**RECEIVED**

**01-09-2017**

**CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS  
OF WISCONSIN**

STATE OF WISCONSIN

COURT OF APPEALS

DISTRICT III

Case No. 2016AP2059

---

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

SARA ANN PONFIL,

Defendant-Appellant.

---

On Notice of Appeal from a Judgment  
Entered in the Brown County Circuit Court,  
the Honorable Timothy A. Hinkfuss, Presiding

---

BRIEF AND APPENDIX OF  
DEFENDANT-APPELLANT

---

ANDREW R. HINKEL  
Assistant State Public Defender  
State Bar No. 1058128

Office of the State Public Defender  
Post Office Box 7862  
Madison, WI 53707-7862  
(608) 267-1779  
hinkela@opd.wi.gov

Attorney for Defendant-Appellant

##

## **ISSUE PRESENTED**

Ms. Ponfil was seized after an officer noticed her vehicle and another parked together in the rear parking lot of an open tavern. When the officer shined his spotlight on the two vehicles and approached on foot, he noted a change in the occupants' demeanor and also saw that the other car (not Ms. Ponfil's) contained a person known to be in a gang. One of the passengers in the other car also asked the officer why they were being stopped. Did the officer have reasonable suspicion to detain Ms. Ponfil by ordering her back into her vehicle, which resulted in the discovery of cocaine?

The circuit court found reasonable suspicion.

## **STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION**

This is a misdemeanor appeal decided by one judge, so it will not be published. Ms. Ponfil does not request oral argument, as the issue can be adequately developed in briefing.

## **STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS**

Sara Ponfil pled no contest to possession of cocaine and was placed on probation. (23:1). She appeals the pre-plea denial of her suppression motion pursuant to Wis. Stat. § 971.31(10).

A patrolling Green Bay police officer pulled his squad into the parking lot of Nic's Bar. It was about 1:45 on a Sunday morning in July; the bar is open until about 2:15. Per the officer's testimony the bar's overflow parking area is dimly lit and secluded, and sometimes used for illegal

activity. Asked about gang activity, the officer testified he was “aware of the clientele that was at Nic’s Bar, but my primary focus on the night of this investigation was alcohol enforcement, open intoxicants, and public disturbances” which were a problem at Nic’s. (35:5-8, 10; App. 109-112, 114). He also testified about a “pretty substantial fight” that had previously occurred in the parking lot, after which a handgun had been found. (35:50-51; App. 132-33). Various people had also informed the officer that Nic’s was a “cocaine bar” where the drug was sold and used. (35:52; App. 134).

There were a few cars in the lot; the officer noticed two parked together in the unlit northeast corner. Both cars were occupied and the occupants did not immediately make moves either to enter the bar or to drive off. The cars were positioned so that the driver’s doors were adjacent; per the officer this is “common with people that are familiar with each other and talking in the parking lot.” The officer could not see whether the occupants were communicating, however. (35:9; App. 113).

He parked his squad. He did not turn on his red and blue lights but did turn on his spotlight and pointed it at the cars. (35:20; App. 124). About a minute after he first pulled into the lot, the officer began to walk toward the cars, with his gun and Taser holstered but his flashlight in hand. (35:17-18, 20-21; App. 121-22, 124-25). He testified that when the vehicles’ six occupants noticed him,

they changed their demeanor from a calm and kind of hanging-out demeanor to a hurried, panicked. Everyone was sitting up. It appeared they were straightening up, kind of like, that moment—I don’t know exactly how to describe it—that startled moment where you’re—I guess you could say you were caught by an authority and you

did not want to get caught doing whatever it was that you were doing.

(35:10,48; App. 114, 130). The officer then decided that he would not let the vehicles' occupants leave. (35:16; App. 120).

The officer spoke to the driver of one of the cars, who said they were just preparing to leave the lot. (35:10-11; App. 114-15). The passenger in that car started giving the officer "some grief about why they were being stopped, what was the reasoning for it, and it was a little excessive for basically just me walking up to a vehicle." (35:12; App. 116). The officer testified that this reaction caused him to have a "heightened awareness." (35:15; App. 119). The officer also recognized one of the passengers in this car as a Latin King. (35:30). Ms. Ponfil was in the driver's seat of the other vehicle; no one in her car was acting hostile toward the officer. (35:24; App. 128).

At this point Ms. Ponfil, after looking over her shoulder at the officer, began to get out of her car as if to head back into the bar. (35:11; App. 115). The passenger in Ms. Ponfil's car got out and began to walk away. (35:13; App. 117). The officer ordered Ms. Ponfil to remain in her car. (35:12; App. 116). Ms. Ponfil was a "little hesitant at first" but sat back in the driver's seat with her legs out of the car. (35:12; App. 116). The officer "had her bring her feet back into the vehicle" at which point he noticed a plastic baggie on the ground with a white powder inside of it. (35:13-14; App. 117-18). It was a windy evening, leading the officer to believe that the bag had recently been dropped. (35:25; App. 129). Eventually, the officer picked up the bag, which contained cocaine. (35:14; App. 118).

Ms. Ponfil moved to suppress the cocaine on the ground that it was the fruit of a detention without reasonable suspicion. The court held an evidentiary hearing at which the above facts were developed. (10; 35). After briefing, the court issued a written decision concluding the facts showed reasonable suspicion and denying suppression. (13; 14; 16; App. 101-04).

## ARGUMENT

The cocaine must be suppressed as the fruit of an unlawful seizure.

### A. Standard of review and summary of argument.

The facts here are undisputed; this court decides *de novo* whether they establish reasonable suspicion. *State v. Colstad*, 2003 WI App 25, ¶8, 260 Wis. 2d 406, 659 N.W.2d 394.

Ms. Ponfil was seated in the driver's seat of her car at the rear of the parking lot of an open tavern. After sitting for about a minute, she was seized and prevented from walking away. The totality of the officer's observations by this point—the reputation of the tavern, the fact that a gang member was in a nearby car, the “sitting up” of the cars' occupants, and the fact that one of the other car's occupants gave the officer “some grief” about being stopped—did not amount to “reasonable, individualized suspicion” that Ms. Ponfil was committing any crime. *Maryland v. Buie*, 494 U.S. 325, 334 n.2 (1990). As such, the evidence discovered as a result of her seizure must be suppressed.



B. Ms. Ponfil was seized without reasonable suspicion; the cocaine discovered by way of the seizure must therefore be suppressed.

First, it is undisputed that Ms. Ponfil was seized when she attempted to get out of the car, was “ordered” to remain there, and complied. *State v. Young*, 2006 WI 98, ¶39, 294 Wis. 2d 1, 717 N.W.2d 729 (seizure occurs where person “submits to a show of authority”).

It is also undisputed that the officer discovered the cocaine after he ordered Ms. Ponfil to move her feet, which had been concealing it—that is, the discovery of the cocaine was the fruit of the seizure. (35:13-14).

Whether the cocaine is admissible thus depends upon whether the “specific, articulable facts” known to the officer, together with “reasonable inferences from those facts” created a reasonable suspicion that Ms. Ponfil was committing a crime. *State v. Fields*, 2000 WI App 218, ¶10, 239 Wis. 2d 38, 619 N.W.2d 279. While the court must consider all the relevant facts taken together—the “totality of the circumstances”—it is not possible to analyze the significance of the officer’s knowledge without considering each individual piece of information. Thus:

*1. Nic’s bar as a high-crime area*

In its decision, the circuit court relied heavily on two portions of the officer’s testimony: first, that Nic’s, besides having issues with fights and alcohol-related nuisances, had been described to him as a “cocaine bar” where the drug was sold and consumed; and second, that gang members frequented “the area” around the bar. (16:2-3; 35:15; App. 102-03, 119).

The circuit court found the officer credible, so this court must accept that he had, in fact, been told what he said he was told. But what he was told (by unknown persons)—that at some unknown time, some unknown number of the bar’s customers used or trafficked in drugs—is slim grounds indeed to accuse any given Nic’s patron of criminality.

In general, presence in a so-called “high-crime area,” while a legally proper factor for consideration, is not enough for reasonable suspicion. *Buie*, 494 U.S. 334 n.2 (even in high-crime area, “reasonable, *individualized* suspicion” is required (emphasis added)). It is *particularly* weak grounds, however, to suspect a person acting so unremarkably as Ms. Ponfil: a woman sitting in her car for one minute on a warm July night in the parking lot of an open bar, apparently conversing with the occupants of a car next to her.

“The spectrum of legitimate human behavior occurs every day in so-called high crime areas.” *State v. Morgan*, 197 Wis. 2d 200, 212, 539 N.W.2d 887 (1995). Even accepting that some Nic’s patrons break the law, a drinking-age adult socializing with other adults on the premises of an open tavern is among the most common scenes one might encounter on a weekend night in Green Bay. *See State v. Gordon*, 2014 WI App 44, ¶12, 353 Wis. 2d 468, 846 N.W.2d 483 (even in high-crime area, “circumstances must not be so general that they risk sweeping into valid law-enforcement concerns persons on whom the requisite individualized suspicion has not focused”).

## 2. *The behavior of the car’s occupants*

The decision below next relies on the vehicles’ occupants’ change in demeanor when the officer approached. The officer ascribed great significance to this change, testifying that it triggered his decision to detain. His specific

observations were that the occupants “changed their demeanor from a calm and kind of hanging-out demeanor to a hurried, panicked. Everyone was sitting up. It appeared they were straightening up.” (35:10; App. 114). He also said that one of the occupants of the car Ms. Ponfil was *not* in gave him “some grief” about being stopped. (35:12; App. 116).

Going from relaxed and social to startled and attentive—from “hanging-out” to “sitting up ... straightening up”—is an utterly natural response to having a spotlight shined into one’s vehicle. The officer’s remaining testimony—that the occupants appeared “panicked” and “hurried,” and looked like they had been “caught by an authority and you did not want to get caught doing whatever it was that you were doing”—are statements of *the officer’s* subjective beliefs, not observations of objective facts. (35:10; App. 114). See **Brown v. Texas**, 443 U.S. 47, 52 (1979) (officer’s testimony that two men in alley frequented by drug users “looked suspicious” did not support reasonable suspicion).

As for the passenger who “gave [the officer] grief,” the officer believed it was not “proportionate for the circumstances” because he had not turned on his emergency lights or drawn a weapon. (35:12, 14-15). He had, however, shined a spotlight into these darkened vehicles and was now approaching them with his flashlight. Though the officer may have regarded his own actions as routine, it was not unreasonable or suspicious for his startled detainees to ask “why they were being stopped, what was the reasoning for it.” (35:12).

The officer also testified that the rear area of the parking lot, farther from the main doors of the bar, was “[o]verflow parking”; when he arrived there were “a few

vehicles that were parked in the more lit area” and in the overflow area “it was more sporadic” with “a couple” vehicles besides the ones that he approached. (35:7-8; App. 121-22). The court viewed this, as well as the positioning of the two vehicles so their drivers were adjacent, as additional grounds for reasonable suspicion. (16:3; App. 103).

Like socializing on the premises of an open tavern, parking in the less-well-lit, less-full, somewhat-farther-from-the-door part of a tavern parking lot is just not unusual or suspicious behavior. There were two other cars parked in the rear (or eastern) portion of the lot; though the lot was apparently not full at 1:45 a.m., there is no reason to believe it had not been full earlier on a Saturday night. While an officer need not rule out the possibility of innocent behavior before a seizure, *State v. Anderson*, 155 Wis. 2d 77, 84, 454 N.W.2d 763 (1990), Ms. Ponfil’s choice of a parking spot was “far too common to support the requisite individualized suspicion.” *Gordon*, 353 Wis. 2d 468, ¶17.

3. *The presence of a gang member in the other car*

The trial court also found significant that the *other* car contained a Latin King, because the officer had testified that “the way they were parked led me to believe that they were familiar with each other.” (16:2-3; App. 102-03). But familiarity with criminals is paltry evidence of criminality. Surely this alleged gang member meets and speaks with a great many non-criminals as he goes about his life; a person’s momentary conversation with him does not make that person suspicious. “Presumptions of guilt are not lightly to be indulged from mere meetings,” *United States v. Di Re*, 332 U.S. 581, 593 (1948). *See also Sibron v. N.Y.*, 392 U.S. 40, 62–63 (1968) (“The inference that persons who talk to

narcotics addicts are engaged in the criminal traffic in narcotics is simply not the sort of reasonable inference required to support an intrusion by the police upon an individual's personal security"); *Smith v. United States*, 558 A.2d 312, 314-15 (D.C. 1989) (citing cases "rejecting articulable suspicion arguments based upon guilt by association").

In sum, the situation the officer encountered in the parking lot of Nic's—a group of people lingering for a minute in the parking lot of an open tavern, who reacted with concern to being spotlighted and approached by the police—was not sufficiently suggestive of crime to justify seizing six people, including Ms. Ponfil. The stop was unlawful and its fruits must be suppressed.

### CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, Ms. Ponfil respectfully requests that this court vacate her conviction and sentence and remand with directions that the cocaine be suppressed.