STATE OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS DISTRICT NUMBER III

RECEIVED

03-09-2017

CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

No. 2016AP2059 (Brown County Case No. 2015CM1047)

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

SARA ANN PONFIL,

Defendant-Appellant.

BRIEF OF PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT

Appeal from a Judgment Entered in the Brown County Circuit Court, The Hon. Timothy A. Hinkfuss, Presiding

Beau G. Liegeois Assistant District Attorney State Bar No. 1066186

Brown County District Attorney's Office Law Enforcement Center 300 East Walnut Street P.O.Box 23600 Green Bay, WI 54305-3600 (920)448-4190

Attorney for Plaintiff-Respondent

This is a misdemeanor appeal, so the State does not request oral argument or publication.

ARGUMENT

- I. THERE WAS REASONABLE SUSPICION IN THIS CASE
- A. Reasonable suspicion is a lower standard than probable cause.

Reasonable suspicion is a lower standard than probable cause. *Illinois v. Wardlow*, 528 U.S. 119, 123 (2000). Reasonable suspicion also requires less than a preponderance of the evidence standard, but still must be more than a mere hunch. *U.S. v. Sokolow*, 490 U.S. 1, 7 (1989). When considering a reasonable suspicion analysis, the totality of circumstances in each case must be considered to determine if the police officer had a particularized and objective basis to suspect that criminal activity was afoot. *U.S. v. Arvizu*, 122 S.Ct. 744, 750 (2002).

Reasonable suspicion may rise from behavior that was not illegal and could have had an innocent explanation. State v. Waldner, 206 Wis.2d 51, 58-59 (1996). In Waldner, the Wisconsin Supreme Court upheld the officer's reasonable suspicion to stop a motorist, who was later determined to be operating while intoxicated, based on observations of driving that were not illegal, when standing alone. Waldner stated that "a point is reached where the sum of the whole is greater than the sum of its individual parts." Id. Waldner also explains that a police officer actually observing unlawful conduct is probable cause to arrest, a higher standard than reasonable suspicion requires. *Id*. The law does not require the police officer to have a precise level of information, and allows police officers to stop persons when they have less than probable cause. *Id*.

B. A high crime area and the officer's training and experience may be considered as factors in the reasonable suspicion analysis.

Police officers may "draw on their own experience and specialized training to make inferences from and deductions about the cumulative information available to them that might well elude an untrained person." *U.S. v. Arvizu* at 750. Knowledge of a high crime area, based on the officer's training and experience, is a relevant consideration of the entire context of a stop. *Illinois v. Wardlow* at 124. This case law precedent holds that weight should be given to an officer's training and experience when analyzing reasonable suspicion.

A high crime area alone cannot be used as the basis for reasonable suspicion, but it can be considered as one factor in an analysis based on the totality of circumstances. *State v. Morgan*, 197 Wis.2d 200, 211 (1995), and *Illinois v. Wardlow* at 124. In *Morgan*, the police officer testified that the stop was in a "fairly high-crime-rate area," there was not a lot of traffic in the area at 4 AM, the vehicle drove in and out of an alley, and the vehicle made several turns within a few city blocks. The police officer stopped the vehicle for expired license plates and observed that the driver appeared nervous while searching for his driver's license. *Morgan* at 204. The Wisconsin Supreme Court upheld these facts as reasonable suspicion.

In Ms. Ponfil's case, Officer Brann provided extensive testimony about this area. Officer Brann testified about Nick's Bar's reputation as a cocaine bar, that is based on information provided by individuals he has talked to who have familiarity with the establishment. Motion Hearing, November 19, 2015, Transcript 52:9-23. Officer Brann further testified about specific instances of conduct at Nick's He testified about Bar that he personally experienced. observing individuals coming and going from Nick's Bar with open intoxicants and publicly urinating outside the bar. Tr. 7:20-8:1, and 30:24-31:8. He testified about a specific incident that he himself experienced, that involved a fighting disturbance and a firearm. He had personal knowledge of a prior violent incident taking place in that area. Tr. 50:21-51:18. Officer Brann not only knew Nick's Bar's reputation as being in a high crime area and a cocaine bar, but also observed particularized instances that corroborated the bar's reputation.

Judge Hinkfuss ruled that "the State did indeed prove that the area was high crime." Decision and Order, dated January 20, 2016, p. 2, para. 1. Considerable weight was properly given to Officer Brann's training and personal experience with Nick's Bar as a high crime area.

At the motion hearing, the defense presented Defense Exhibit #1 "Calls for Service Report by Address." Tr. 32:15. This document should be given very little weight in this analysis for two reasons. First, the comparison between Nick's Bar and the nearby McDonald's restaurant is a completely faulty comparison. These are two totally different kinds of establishments based on the testimony that was presented. McDonald's is open 24 hours. Tr. 50:5. Nick's Bar has traffic primarily between 11 PM and 3 AM. 33:23. McDonald's is a fast food restaurant that appeals to everyone, while Nick's Bar is a tavern that appeals to adults Officer Brann testified that McDonald's and its customers are more likely to call police if there is a incident, whereas taverns try to avoid calling police because it can negatively impact their business. Tr. 50:5-20. Comparing a McDonald's restaurant to Nick's Bar is like comparing apples to zebras.

The second reason that Defense Exhibit #1 should be given little weight is because of the exhibit's characterization of the incident in this case. The entry in the document for this incident, dated "7/12/15" in the document, describes it as a "Suspicious vehicle." Exh. #1, page 9 of 13. There is no mention of this being an incident involving cocaine, even though cocaine was discovered during this case. The "Incident Types" are such general descriptions that they offer very limited value.

C. There was elevated tension because of the occupant's movements and there was a known gang member in the vehicle.

Officer Brann testified that Nick's Bar is in a high crime area that includes gang activity, and that gang activity is commonly associated with criminal activity. Tr. 16:1-2. Officer Brann further testified that as he approached the vehicles, he recognized one of the occupants as a known gang

member, which heightened his awareness. Tr. 15:19-16:2. He knew the gang members name and gang affiliation. Tr. 30:14. He was in full uniform, did not have his firearm drawn and was using his flashlight. Tr. 14:24-25.

As he approached the vehicles, he observed movement among the occupants of both vehicles. Officer Brann testified that the movement did not fit the circumstance of him approaching the vehicles on foot with his emergency lights off. Officer Brann testified that he has dozens of contacts per night, and the occupants' response to him was disproportionate to the situation. The occupants "aggressive actions" toward him, gave him a "heightened awareness." Tr. 14:1-24.

Officer Brann stated that his only motion at that point was walking up to the vehicles, and the occupants starting opening doors and moving around a lot, including the Defendant, who was driving one of the vehicles. Officer Brann testified that it was not until after he made these observations, while he was approaching the vehicles on foot, that he would not have let anyone leave. Tr. 16:8-19. These additional observations are significantly different than what the officer observed in Young. The cocaine at issue in this case was observed by Officer Brann on the ground outside the vehicle, shortly after the point of seizure.

As in *Morgan*, none of these activities individually are incriminating. But when considered in the entire context of the incident, they give rise to reasonable suspicion.

These additional observations are significantly different than what the officer observed in *Young*. *State v*. *Young*, 294 Wis,2d 1 (Ct.App. 1997). In *Young*, the police officer makes a pedestrian stop based on information from other officers, in a high-crime area, and Young himself is fairly cooperative with the contact. The officer had no particularized observations of the area as a high-crime area, as Officer Brann does in Ms. Ponfil's case. Furthermore, there was no behavior in *Young* that would have heightened the awareness of the situation and raised tension.

CONCLUSION

Officer Brann's testimony established a particularized and objective basis for the investigatory stop of the defendant that was beyond a mere hunch. There was reasonable suspicion based on 1) Officer Brann's knowledge of the area's high crime reputation, corroborated by his own personal observations and experiences in that area, 2) the "aggressive actions" of the occupants, one of whom was a confirmed gang member, that gave him a "heightened awareness," 3) the occupants were opening doors and moving around a lot, and significantly outnumbered the officer, and 4) the occupants disproportionate response to his approach on foot with his squad lights off. Each individual fact in this case in isolation may have an innocent explanation, but when considered in their totality, the factual observations of Officer Brann rise to reasonable suspicion.

Therefore, the State respectfully requests that the Court find that Officer Brann did have reasonable suspicion to seize the Defendant to investigate criminal activity, and uphold Judge Hinkfuss' denial of the Defendant's motion to suppress evidence.